IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

Supreme Court 18-0950

HOMELAND ENERGY SOLUTIONS, LLC, an Iowa Limited Liability Company, Plaintiff / Appellee

v.

STEVE J. RETTERATH, Defendant and Third Party Plaintiff / Appellant,

and

JASON and ANNIE RETTERATH,

Intervenors / Appellants.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY HON. CARLA SCHEMMEL, PAUL D. SCOTT, ROBERT J. BLINK, and JEFFREY D. FARRELL

FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT OF APPELLANT STEVE J. RETTERATH

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. HES FAILED TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SHOW ENTITLEMENT TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE

Authorities

Cases

Acme Inv., Inc. v. Sw. Tracor, Inc., 105 F.3d 412 (8th Cir. 1997) Am. Tower, L.P. v. Local TV Iowa, L.L.C., 809 N.W.2d 546 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011) Berryhill v. Hatt, 428 N.W.2d 647 (Iowa 1988) Breitbach v. Christenson, 541 N.W.2d 840 (1995) Century 21-Birdsell Realty, Inc. v. Hiebel, 379 N.W.2d 201 (Minn. Ct. App. 1985) *Condo v. Conners*, 266 P.3d 1110 (Col. 2011) Conner v. Hayes (In re Estate of Conner), 2003 Iowa App. LEXIS 308 (Mar. 26, 2003) Conrad Brothers v. John Deere Ins. Co., 640 N.W. 2d 231 (Iowa 2001) Corporate Exp. Office Products, Inc. v. Phillips, 847 So.2d 406 (Fla. 2003) Dickson v. Hubbell Realty Co., 567 N.W.2d 427 (Iowa 1997). (Tr. 4.) Gingerich v. Protein Blenders, Inc., 250 Iowa 654, 95 N.W.2d 522 (1959) State ex rel. Goettsch v. Diacide Distributors, Inc., 561 N.W.2d 369 (Iowa 1997) Lyon v. Willie, 288 N. W.2d 884 (Iowa 1980) *McCarter v. Uban*, 166 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa 1969) Mincks Agri Center v. Bell Farms, 611 N.W.2d 270 (Iowa 2000) Mission of Saudi Arabia to the United Nations v. Kirkwood Ltd., 30 A.D.3d 1133, 817 N.Y.S.2d 226 (N.Y. App. Div. 2006) Peterson v. Rankin, 161 Iowa 431, 143 N.W. 418 (1913) Redeker v. Litt, No. 5-076, 2005 Iowa App. LEXIS 415 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 11, 2015) Roberts v. Clark, 188 S.W.3d 204 (Tex. App. 2002) *Rodgers v. Baughman*, 342 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 1983) Saint George Society v. Sawyer, 204 Iowa 103 (1927) SDG Macerich Properties, L.P. v. Stanek Inc., 648 N.W.2d 581 (Iowa 2002) Shell Oil Co. v. Kelinson, 158 N.W.2d 724 (Iowa 1968) Tenney v. Atlantic Assocs., 594 N.W.2d 11 (Iowa 1999)

TIC Holdings v HR Software Acquisition Group, 194 Misc.2d 106 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2002)
Williams v. Clark, 417 N.W.2d 247 (Iowa Ct. App. 1987)

Statutes

Iowa Code § 489.102(24) Iowa Code § 489.104(1) Iowa Code § 489.407(3)(d)(3) Iowa Code §§ 489.501

Other Authorities

18 AM. JUR. 2d Corporations § 38
Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014)
Fletcher Cyclopedia of the Law of Corporations § 13 (2012)
Iowa Civ. Jury Instr. 2400.7
Iowa R. App. P. 6.907
Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)
Iowa R. App. P. 6.904
Kleinberger, Daniel S., *The LLC As Recombinant Entity: Revisiting Fundamental Questions Through the LLC Lens*, 14 FORDHAM J. CORP. & FIN. 473 (2008).
Spulber, Daniel F., *Discovering the Role of the Firm: The Separation Criterion and Corporate Law*, 6 Berkeley Bus. L. J. 298 (2009)

II. DISTRICT COURT ERRED GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT THAT HES' OPERATING AGREEMENT DID NOT REQUIRE MEMBERSHIP APPROVAL OF THE PURPORTED AGREEMENT

Authorities

Cases

Atlas Coal Co. v. Jones, 61 N.W.2d 663 (Iowa 1953) Condo v. Conners, 266 P.3d 1110 (Col. 2011) DuVall v. Moore, 276 F. Supp. 674 (N.D. Iowa 1967) Huntington Min. Holdings, Inc. v. Cottontail Plaza, Inc., 459 N.E.2d 492 (N.Y. 1983) Iowa Fuel & Minerals v. Iowa State Bd. of Regents, 471 N.W.2d 859 (Iowa 1991)
Paramount Commc'ns Inc. v. QVC Network Inc., 637 A.2d 34 (Del. 1994)
Peak v. Adams, 799 N.W.2d 535 (Iowa 2011)

Statutes

Iowa Code § 502.102(28)(e)

Other Authorities

Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014)

III. DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING RETTERATH'S AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES

Authorities

Cases

Binkholder v. Carpenter, 152 N.W.2d 593 (Iowa 1967) Binz v. Einarsen, 723 N.W.2d 449 (Iowa Ct. App. 2006) C & J Vantage Leasing Co. v. Wolfe, 795 N.W.2d 65 (Iowa 2011) Davenport Bank & Trust Co. v. State Cent. Bank, 485 N.W.2d 476 (Iowa 1992) Hillview Associates v. Bloomquist, 440 N.W.2d 867 (1989) Inc. v. Fargo Water Equip. Co., 446 N.W.2d 237 Johnson v. Johnson, 301 N.W.2d 750 (Iowa 1981) In re Marriage of Shanks, 758 N.W.2d 506 (Iowa 2008) Miller v. AMF Harley-Davidson Motor Co., 328 N.W.2d 348 (Iowa Ct. App. 1982) State ex rel. Palmer v. Unisys Corp., 637 N.W.2d 142 (Iowa 2001) Postscript Enter. v. City of Bridgeton, 905 F.2d 223 (8th Cir. 1990) Purgess v. Sharrock, 33 F.3d 134 (2d Cir.1994) *Sille v. Shaffer*, 297 N.W.2d 379 (Iowa 1980) State v. Teeters, 487 N.W.2d 346 (Iowa 1992) TIC Holdings v HR Software Acquisition Group, 194 Misc.2d 106 (N.Y. Sup.Ct. 2002) Weber v. Weber, 589 N.W.2d 358 (N.D. 1999)

Statutes

Iowa Code § 554.2302(1)49

Other Authorities

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907 Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 152 (1981)

IV. DISTRICT COURT ERRED GRANTING HES' POST-TRIAL MOTION TO SUPPLEMENT RECORD

Authorities

Cases

First Trust Joint Stock Land Bank v. Resh, 285 N.W. 192 (Iowa 1939)

V. DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN AWARDING HES ATTORNEYS' FEES AND DENYING RETTERATH ATTORNEYS' FEES

Authorities

Cases

Ales v. Anderson, Gabelmann, Lower & Whitlow, P.C.,728 N.W.2d 832 (Iowa 2007)	
First Am. Bank & C.J. Land, LLC v. Fobian Farms, Inc., 906 N.W.2d 730 (Iowa 2018)	6
<i>FNBC Iowa, Inc. v. Jennessey Grp.</i> , L.L.C., 759 N.W.2d 808 (Iowa Ct. A 2008)	.pp.
Maxim Technologies, Inc. v. City of Dubuque, 690 N.W.2d 896 (Iowa 200 NevadaCare, Inc. v. Dep't of Human Servs., 783 N.W.2d 459 (Iowa 2010))
Estate of Pearson v. Interstate Power & Light Co., 700 N.W.2d 333 (Iow 2005)	
Standard Water Control Sys., Inc. v. Jones, 888 N.W.2d 673 (Iowa Ct. Aj 2016)	pp.

Statutes

Iowa Code § 625.22

Other Authorities

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.413(1)

VI. DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING RETTERATH'S MOTION FOR EVIDENTIARY SANCTIONS OR CONTINUANCE

Authorities

Cases

Barnhill v. Iowa Dist. Court of Polk County, No. 7-573, 2007 Iowa App. LEXIS 1134 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 24, 2007)
Jensen v. Sattler, 696 N.W.2d 582 (Iowa 2005)

VII. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING RETTERATH'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL AND STRIKING RETTERATH'S JURY DEMAND

Authorities

Cases

Hansen v. Cent. Iowa Hosp. Corp., 686 N.W.2d 476 (Iowa 2004)
Meyer v. Des Moines, 475 N.W.2d 181 (1991)
Ramirez v. Iowa DOT, 546 N.W.2d 629 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996)
Sullivan v. Chicago & Nw. Transp. Co., 326 N.W.2d 320 (Iowa 1982)
Weltzin v. Nail, 618 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 2000)
White v. Citizens Nat. Bank of Boone, 262 N.W.2d 812 (Iowa 1978)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Iowa Supreme Court should retain this case so it can address substantial first-impression issues relating to limited liability companies under Iowa Code Chapter 489, which has received minimal court attention. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c). This case presents "substantial questions of enunciating...legal principles." *Id.* 6.1101(2)(f). It concerns an eight-figure monetary investment, and claims involving insider trading and Iowa's biofuels industry, which affect most Iowans directly or indirectly. *Id.* 6.1101(2)(d). The significant issues, and underlying errors, in this case must be addressed by the supreme court. *Id.* 6.1101(2), (3).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Homeland Energy Solutions LLC ("HES") seeks specific performance of a purported agreement. (Appendix ("App.") (vol. I), p. 20.)

Course of Proceedings

Iowa proceedings began August 14, 2013, when HES filed its

"Petition in Equity" in Polk County seeking specific performance.

August 27, 2014, Defendant Steve Retterath answered. (Answer.) November 14, 2014, district court struck his jury demand. (App.(I), p. 149.) July 21, 2016 Retterath moved to file an amended Answer. (App.(III), pp. 191 et. seq.) November 6, 2016, district court permitted the Amended

Answer. In the same Order, the court required:

Number one, the trial on [HES'] original petition shall proceed on January 17, 2017 as ordered. It shall be limited to the issues raised in that [HES'] pleading and answers thereto. Number two, no discovery relating to the now amended pleadings of [Retterath] and Intervenor[s Jason Retterath and Annie Retterath], or the issues raised therein, shall take place prior to the trial court's ruling relating to [HES'] original petition. It is the court's intent to try this matter in January, limited to evidence related the claims raised originally by [HES], in the reasonable hope that this would provide global resolution.

The court concludes it is in the best interests of judicial economy, and the parties, to keep all their related claims in one case. Likewise, it is in the parties' and the court's best interest to try the initial claims first, undelayed by ancillary discovery and proceedings attributable to the now amended pleadings of [Retterath] and [Intervenors], as that trial may well be dispositive of the entire dispute.

(App.(V), p. 222.)

After filing pre-trial motions, July 14, 2017, Retterath filed a post-trial emergency motion to stay and extend the time for the closing of the purported agreement at issue. (*See id.* p. 375.) July 26, 2017, HES sought to require that "Retterath post a bond in an amount sufficient to save HES harmless from the consequences of the stay." (*Id.* p. 336.)

July 28, 2017, district court granted stay of closing without bond,

"until all pending or presently anticipated post-trial motions have been ruled upon." (*Id.* p. 375.)

Disposition in the District Court

District court ordered specific performance. (Id. p. 319.)

HES and Retterath both filed post-trial motions. In post-trial rulings, district court granted HES attorney fees, determination of amount after full trial of other issues. (*Id.* p. 395.)

Other HES post-trial requests were granted. Specific performance was still ordered; nearly all of Retterath's post-trial motions were denied. (*Id.*)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

HES is an Iowa Limited Liability Company. Its principal place of business is Lawler, Iowa. HES has about 1200 members. (App.(VI), pp. 93-94.) Its ordinary business activities are producing ethanol at its facility and selling it. (App.(VII), p. 24, § 1.3.)

Intervenors own about 4% of HES' outstanding Units. At all relevant times, they were voting members of HES. (App.(V), p. $2 \P 4$.)

Retterath, a 76-year-old stroke survivor, resides in Florida. (App.(VI), pp. 311, 316.) He purchased 25,860 HES Units for roughly \$26 million during its initial offering. (*Id.* p. 320; App.(VI), p. 71.) He is HES' largest unitholder (28.59%). (App.(VI), p. 131.) His initial offering investment size

entitled him to appoint two directors under HES' Operating Agreement. (*Id.* p. 321.)

At December 19, 2012, HES Board meeting, Retterath notified the Board of a potential offer for his Units from Flint Hills Resources. Retterath wanted HES to have first chance to buy his Units. HES had never purchased a Director's Units. (*Id.* pp. 112-15.)

The Board, in Retterath's absence, formed a committee to negotiate acquisition of Retterath's Units ("Buyback Committee"). The Buyback Committee initially included then HES Directors Christy Marchand, Leslie Hansen, Chad Kuhlers, Maurice Hyde, and Jim Boeding. It also included HES CEO/President Walt Wendland, who was not a Director. (App.(VI), pp. 14-15; App.(VII), p. 94.) In April 2013, Pat Boyle became chair of HES' Board, and replaced Boeding on the Buyback Committee. (App.(VI), pp. 192-93, 357-58.)

Retterath knew Kuhlers previously worked for Flint Hills' owner. (*Id.* pp. 141-48, 163.) Retterath asked Kuhlers to assist a potential sale to Flint Hills. (*Id.* p. 163.) Kuhlers said he would where he could. (*Id.*)

May 2013, meeting, HES' Board discussed alleged "bribery" of Kuhlers. (*Id.* p. 160.) HES started an investigation. (App.(VII), p. 101.) Retterath denied the "bribery." (App.(VI), p. 340.)

21

In reference to "bribery," May 14, 2013, Director Hansen emailed chair Boyle, stating Retterath "is going to continue digging a hole until he is buried...." (App.(VI), p. 322; App.(VII), p. 322.) Boyle replied "Yes. Unbelievable but it is just what we needed to happen in order to start filling the hole back up." (App.(VI), p. 223; App.(VII), p. 321.)

May 29, 2013, Retterath's attorney, Allen Libow, emailed HES outside counsel Mike Dee (with copy to Joe Leo of the same firm), identifying himself as Retterath's counsel, and instructing Dee not to contact Retterath directly. (App.(VII), pp. 216-17.)

HES' Board discussed that if HES reacquired Retterath's Units, it would end its "bribery" investigation. (*Id.* p. 101; App.(VI), p. 186.) June 10, 2013, the Buyback Committee authorized attorney Leo to draft a letter of intent to be signed by Retterath within 48 hours. (App.(VII), p. 101.)

June 11, 2013, Boyle emailed a draft Membership Unit Repurchase Agreement ("MURA") directly to Retterath, without copying Libow. (*Id.* p. 102.) Leo prepared the draft Boyle sent. (App.(VI), pp. 225, 282-84.) It proposed \$28,446,000 payment in equal installments July 1, 2013, 2014, and 2015. (App.(VII), p. 102.)

June 13, 2013, Boyle emailed Retterath another draft with \$28,446,000 at closing. (*Id.* p. 111.) Retterath then emailed a handwritten

markup to Boyle, changing payment to \$30,000,000. (*Id.* p. 118.) Boyle then emailed Retterath a draft Boyle pre-signed, with \$30,000,000 split into two \$15,000,000 payments, one at closing, one due July 1, 2014. (*Id.* p. 126.)

Retterath reviewed the document alone. (App.(VI), p. 126.) He signed the purported agreement the same day. (App.(VII), p. 131.)

HES' Board had not authorized Boyle to sign the purported agreement when he did. (App.(VI), pp. 116-19, 185, 354-56, 359, 402; App.(VII), p. 93.) June 19, 2013, HES' Board "ratified" the purported agreement, and "approved" Boyle's signature. (App.(VI), pp. 130, 191, 218.) The MURA could not bind HES until its Board approved it. (*Id.* p. 285.)

Retterath was a Director throughout negotiation and signing of the purported agreement. (*Id.* p. 217.) HES reported to the SEC that Retterath resigned from HES' Board, and HES named Ed Hatten as his replacement effective June 19, 2013. (App.(VII), p. 175.) Under the purported agreement, Retterath's special board appointment rights would evaporate on transfer of his Units at closing. (App.(VI), p. 87; App.(VII), p. 36, § 5.3(f).) Retterath retained appointment rights through at least August 1, 2013, and could have reappointed himself as a Director. (App.(VI), pp. 212, 286.)

According to Marchand, the purported agreement's price for Retterath's Units was above market value. (*Id.* pp. 100, 102-03, 124-25.) Allegedly part of the reason the Buyback Committee offered above-market pricing was it felt Retterath engaged in "disruptive behavior." (*Id.* p. 100.)

June 20, 2013, Libow emailed Leo expressing concern over the purported agreement's enforceability. (App.(VII), p. 155-56.) Leo's sameday response stated that the MURA was signed and HES "expects to close by the August 1 closing date provided it can clear or waive its contingences." (*Id.* p. 155.)

Libow responded June 21, 2013, concerned about HES not following its Operating Agreement. He indicated Retterath "wants no part of a deal that is violative of the individual members' rights." (*Id.* pp. 154-55.) In response, Leo reasserted the purported agreement was binding, and Retterath was obligated to close. (*Id.* p. 153.)

July 9, 2013 Leo sent Libow a proposed mutual release in connection with the purported agreement. (*Id.* pp. 184-87.)

July 16, 2013, Leo claimed to Libow "[w]e have all of the approvals that we require to close," and requested Retterath take certain actions to facilitate closing. (*Id.* p. 191.) In subsequent emails, Leo repeated

conclusory language that HES was ready, willing, and able to close. (*Id.* pp. 192-98.)

On or about July 24, 2013, Leo spoke with Libow and Retterath; Retterath expressed concern about HES not making the second \$15 million payment due by July 1, 2014 under the purported agreement. (App.(VI), p. 248.)

July 25, 2013, in email to Leo, Libow again questioned the enforceability of the proposed agreement, including the authority of Boyle to sign on HES' behalf. (App.(VII), p. 197.) Leo responded the "agreement" was valid, and HES was ready to close. (*Id.* p. 196.) Libow replied the next day, stating membership approval was required under section 5.6(b)(v) of the Operating Agreement. (*Id.*) Leo replied section 5.6(b)(v) did not apply. (*Id.* pp. 199-201.)

July 31, 2013, Libow reiterated on Retterath's behalf that membership approval is required. Libow proposed a closing deadline extension. (*Id.* pp. 204-05.) On August 1, 2013, the closing deadline, Leo wrote Libow that HES had closing funds, had received necessary approvals, and was ready, willing, and able. (*Id.* pp. 210-11.) Leo stated HES was willing to waive mutual release if the parties could not agree on terms. (*Id.*) Leo requested Retterath take certain actions to close that day. (*Id.*)

25

Between June 13 and August 1, 2013, Retterath never asked for more than \$30 million as a base purchase price. (App.(VI), p. 215.)

HES' only available cash was \$5-6 million between July 31 and August 1, 2013. (*Id.* pp. 184, 271, 375; App.(VII), p. 309.)

July and August 2013, HES had a \$20 million credit line from Home Federal Savings Bank ("Home Federal"), governed by Master Loan Agreement ("MLA"). (App.(VI), pp. 361-64, 366; App.(VII), p. 220.)

MLA section 4.01(g): "[n]o proceeds of the Loans will be used to acquire any security in any transaction." (App.(VII), p. 248.)

MLA section 5.02, titled "Negative Covenants:" "[HES] will not, without the prior written consent of [Home Federal]...purchase or otherwise acquire for value any of its membership interests (units) now or hereafter outstanding...." (*Id.* p. 261.)

Section 7 of Second Supplement to Credit Agreement between HES and Home Federal ("Second Supplement") also governed the line of credit (also called the Term Revolving Note): "[1]ender's obligation to make each advance under the Term Revolving Note shall be subject to the terms, conditions and covenants set forth in the MLA." (*Id.* p. 302.) Section 4 of Second Supplement limited HES' use of funds borrowed from the line of credit to "Project Costs and cash and inventory management purposes of [HES]...." (*Id.* p. 301.)

Home Federal and HES did not amend this loan documentation prior to August 1, 2013. (App.(VI), pp. 364, 121, 365-67, 414-16.) HES had no funding sources in June, July, or August 2013, other than cash and line of credit funds. (*Id.* pp. 367, 399.)

HES did not discuss internally or with Home Federal how HES would finance the second \$15 million payment (due to Retterath on or before July 1, 2014). (*Id.* pp. 368-70.)

Paragraph five of purported agreement contained conditions to

closing, in relevant part:

<u>Conditions To the Company's Obligations.</u> Unless waived by the Company in writing, the Company's obligation to conclude this transaction as provided herein is subject to the following conditions...

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