## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA NO. 18-0950

#### HOMELAND ENERGY SOLUTIONS, LLC

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

#### STEVE J. RETTERATH,

Defendant-Appellant,

and

#### JASON and ANNIE RETTERATH,

Intervenors-Appellants.

# APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY HON. CARLA SCHEMMEL, PAUL D. SCOTT, ROBERT J. BLINK and JEFFREY D. FARRELL

#### PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE'S BRIEF

Michael A. Dee Brant D. Kahler BROWN, WINICK, GRAVES, GROSS, BASKERVILLE & SCHOENEBAUM, P.L.C. 666 Grand Avenue, Suite 2000 Des Moines, IA 50309-2510

Telephone: (515) 242-2400 Facsimile: (515) 242-2488 E-mail: dee@brownwinck.com kahler@brownwinick.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE HOMELAND ENERGY SOLUTIONS, LLC

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

#### C. Argument

Retterath sets forth five purported "elements" of specific performance (including uniqueness, no adequate remedy at law, irreparable harm, satisfaction of conditions precedent and tender) without citation to any supporting legal authority. (Retterath Brief, p. 31). Retterath's purported "elements" are incorrect.

There are two groups of appellants in these proceedings, Retterath (the defendant) and Jason and Annie Retterath (Retterath's son and daughter-in-law who are the intervenors) (the "Intervenors"). Intervenors were dismissed from the case as a result of the summary judgment order. Intervenors' allegations of error (except for the final allegation of error related to bifurcation) hinge exclusively on Retterath's and Intervenors' argument that the district court incorrectly granted summary judgment that Section 5.6(b)(v) of the Operating Agreement did not require a vote of the HES membership to approve the MURA. HES's position on that argument is addressed at length herein and applies equally to Retterath's and Intervenors' appellate briefs. As such, this appellate brief responds to both Retterath's and Intervenors' appellate briefs.

The remedy of specific performance rests in the equitable discretion of the district court. Berryhill v. Hatt, 428 N.W.2d 647, 657 (Iowa 1988) ("Specific performance of a contract is a remedy resting in the equitable discretion of the court"); McCarty v. Jeffers, 154 N.W.2d 718, 473 (Iowa 1967) ("Action for specific performance of a contract is cognizable in equity"). "The object of specific performance is to best effectuate the purpose for which a contract is made," and "[i]t should be granted upon such terms and conditions as justice requires." Lange v. Lange, 520 N.W.2d 113, 118 (Iowa 1994). For stock purchase agreements, specific performance is allowed where "damages at law are clearly incomplete and inadequate" or where the "stock represents control of the company." Gingerich v. Protein Blenders, Inc., 95 N.W.2d 522, 524 (Iowa 1959).

Here, the MURA served three purposes: (1) redemption of Retterath's Units; (2) retirement of Retterath's Board appointment powers; and (3) removal of Retterath as Member and Director of HES. There is no remedy at law, monetary or otherwise, that could accomplish those three purposes. As a result, specific performance was the appropriate remedy.<sup>4</sup>

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Also, while Retterath's Units do not constitute a controlling HES membership block, those Units are accompanied by control rights that do not accompany other HES membership units, including the right to appoint two Directors to the HES Board. App. VI, p. 72 (Jan. 17 Tr. 71:11-18).

## 1. Uniqueness Need Not Be Shown; However, Retterath's Units are Unique

As discussed in the preceding section, "uniqueness" is not a required element for HES's claim for specific performance of the MURA. Nevertheless, Retterath's Units are unique. They are evidenced by unique Unit Certificate Numbers 36, 824, 1459 and 1530. App. VII, pp. 131-135 (Ex. 17). HES does not duplicate unit certificate numbers, and, in situations like this, retires the unit certificate numbers of all redeemed stock. App. VI, pp. 254, 266-268 (Jan. 19 Tr. 192:2-20; 207:21-208:22; 209:5-22). It is not possible, therefore, for any two unit certificates to have the same number. Retterath's Units are further unique as a result of the Board appointment powers that accompany them. App. VI, p. 72 (Jan. 17 Tr. 71:11-18).

## 2. HES Has No Adequate Remedy At Law and Has Shown Irreparable Harm

As discussed above in Section I(C), no remedy at law, monetary or otherwise, could result in: (1) redemption of Retterath's Units; (2) retirement of Retterath's Board appointment powers; and (3) removal of Retterath as Member and Director of HES. Moreover, accomplishing those three ends was essential to shield HES from irreparable harm.

Retterath's tenure as a Member and Director of HES was toxic, involving plots by Retterath to gain control of the Board to push through the

redemption of his Units at an above-market price, including: (1) Retterath's nomination of candidates to the Board who were friendly to his interests, including a Florida acquaintance and a nephew, App. VI, pp. 93-95; (Jan. 17 Tr. 105:12-106:24; 107:16-22); (2) Retterath's threat of litigation against HES, App. VII, pp. 212-214 (Ex. E); VI, pp. 97-98 (Jan. 17 Tr. 112:10-113:12); (3) Retterath's attempt to have Marchand removed as a Director, App. VI, p. 99 (Jan. 17 Tr. 118:13-19); and (4) most egregiously, Retterath's attempt to bribe Director Kuhlers into voting with him on Board matters, App. VI, pp. 149-160 (Jan. 18 Tr. 71:12-82:19). Retterath's attempt to distinguish between a company's actions, as opposed to its ownership, is meaningless here, where Retterath's Units allowed him to greatly impact, and in some instances control, HES's actions.

## 3. HES Was Excused From, Waived and/or Satisfied All Conditions Precedent in the MURA

Retterath devotes the majority of the specific performance argument in his brief to his claim that HES was not ready, willing and able to close and had not otherwise satisfied the conditions precedent for closing set forth in the MURA. (Retterath Brief, pp. 36-45). Specifically, Retterath argues that: (1) HES did not have financing or available funds to make the first or second \$15,000,000 installment payment; (2) the parties did not enter into a

mutual release; and (3) Eastman (one of his Board appointees) did not resign from the Board.

This argument fails because: (1) Retterath immediately and repeatedly repudiated the MURA after it was executed and approved by the HES Board on June 19, 2013, through the closing date of August 1, 2013, thereby relieving HES of further performing any aspect of the MURA; (2) even if Retterath had not repudiated the MURA, the conditions set forth in Section 5 of the MURA are for HES's benefit, not Retterath's, and Retterath cannot, as a matter of law, use HES's purported failure to meet its own conditions precedent as an excuse for his refusal to perform; and (3) as a matter of fact, HES either met or waived these conditions, or Retterath made their performance impossible.

## a. Retterath's express repudiation of the MURA excused HES from its performance obligations

Retterath repudiated the MURA, which absolved HES of any obligation to perform the conditions in Section 5, or any other provisions, of the MURA, even though the evidence clearly establishes that HES continued to try to get Retterath to close on the transaction until the August 1, 2013 closing date. Beginning on June 20, 2013, and continuing through August 1, 2013, Retterath, primarily through his counsel, repeatedly, expressly and unequivocally stated that the MURA was void, that he had revoked it, that it

was not a binding agreement, and that he would not close. App. VII, pp. 152-156, 202-209 (E.g., Exs. 31, 53, 54). Under Iowa law, that is anticipatory breach. See Conrad Bros. v. John Deere Ins. Co., 640 N.W.2d 231, 241 (Iowa 2001) ("Normally, repudiation consists of a statement that the repudiating party cannot or will not perform."); Williams v. Clark, 417 N.W.2d 247, 250 (Iowa 1987) ("Anticipatory breach requires a definite and unequivocal repudiation of the contract. It is committed before the time for performance and is the outcome of words or acts evincing an intention to refuse performance in the future.").

Once repudiation has occurred, Iowa law is clear, "[w]here one party to a contract repudiates the contract before the time for performance has arrived, the other party is relieved from its performance." Conrad Bros., 640 N.W.2d at 241. In essence, "[a] repudiation of a contract is accorded the same effect as a breach by nonperformance." Id.

The rationale behind the rule that a repudiation of a contract by one party will excuse the other party from the duty to perform contractual obligations and conditions, is the prevention of economic waste, in the sense that, following a clear repudiation, the other party should not be required to perform the formal, economically wasteful, and useless act of further performing. It would seem to be reasonable and just, upon the repudiation of the contract by one party, that the other be held justified in ceasing performance, stopping expenditure, and thus curtailing the damages which the other party would be ultimately liable to pay. To further comply with the contract requirements where

the other party has repudiated the contract would be a useless act, and the law does not require the doing of a useless act.

Id.

Retterath first repudiated the MURA on June 20, 2013, and repeatedly maintained that position through the August 1, 2013 closing date, legally absolving HES of any obligation to perform under the MURA, including Section 5.

b. The conditions precedent in Section 5 of the MURA are for HES's benefit, not Retterath's, and do not excuse Retterath's refusal to perform his obligations in the MURA

The conditions precedent in Section 5 of the MURA are for HES's benefit, not Retterath's, so even if HES did not or could not satisfy any of those conditions precedent, Retterath cannot, as a matter of law, use that failure to excuse his performance. See Rodgers v. Baughman, 342 N.W.2d 801, 806 (Iowa 1983) (quoting H.L. Munn Lumber Co. v. City of Ames, 176 N.W.2d 813, 816 (Iowa 1970) ("It is well established that a party may waive a condition precedent to his own performance of a contractual duty, when such condition precedent exists for his sole benefit and protection, and compel performance by the other party who has no interest in the performance or nonperformance of the condition.")). Also, "a party to a contract who is entitled to the performance of a condition precedent may

waive it either expressly or by conduct indicating waiver." Matter of Estate of Clark, 447 N.W.2d 549, 552 (Iowa 1989) (quoting Mosebach v. Blythe, 282 N.W.2d 755, 760 (Iowa 1979)).

The conditions precedent in Section 5 of the MURA are conditions to "the Company's obligation to conclude this transaction" and are waivable by HES. Section 5 of the MURA expressly notes that "[i]n the event any such conditions shall not have been satisfied on or prior to the Closing or waived in writing by the Company, the Company **may** (in addition to any other remedies available hereunder, at law or in equity, all of which shall be cumulative), terminate this Agreement." App. VII, pp. 131-135 (Ex. 17) (emphasis added). Accordingly, Section 5 sets forth conditions solely for HES's benefit that HES can waive, and the nonperformance of which render the MURA voidable at HES's option.

HES is entitled to demand Retterath's performance under the MURA regardless of whether any such conditions precedent were satisfied. Rodgers, 342 N.W.2d at 806. There is no basis in law for Retterath to refuse to perform his obligations in the MURA because he claims HES failed to perform conditions precedent that are solely for HES's benefit.

c. As a matter of fact, HES satisfied and/or waived all conditions precedent in Section 5 of the MURA, or Retterath made performance thereof impossible

The evidence establishes that HES either satisfied or waived all conditions precedent in Section 5 of the MURA, or that Retterath caused certain conditions not to be performed.

i. HES had lender approval and funds available to repurchase Retterath's Units

Retterath goes to great lengths to argue that HES did not satisfy the condition precedent in Section 5(d) of the MURA that HES receive approval from its primary lender to purchase Retterath's Units and secure financing to do so. Despite Retterath having repeatedly repudiated the MURA and the conditions in Section 5 being for HES's benefit and not for Retterath to use as a pretext to refuse to perform his obligations, HES nevertheless had approval and funding from its bank to pay Retterath and proceed with the closing. Retterath devotes an inordinate number of pages in his appeal brief to this funding issue, unfairly omitting important testimony and exhibits that support the district court's conclusion that HES "could and would have performed on the closing date." App. V, p. 326 (Ruling, p.8). Although the undersigned suggest it is unnecessary, should this Court deem it necessary to

delve into the factual details of this funding issue, a more complete record of the facts is set forth immediately below.

Home Federal Saving Bank ("HFSB") has been HES's primary lender since it funded HES's roughly \$90,000,000 construction loan in 2006. App. VI, pp. 377-378 (Wendland Dep. 186:16-187:8). When the MURA was executed, HES had an available \$20,000,000 revolving term loan (a/k/a line of credit) through HFSB, App. VI, pp. 378-379 (Id. at 187:9-188:11). HES's line of credit was governed by a Master Loan Agreement ("MLA"), which contained provisions preventing HES from drawing on the line of credit to repurchase membership units. App. VI, pp. 380-381 (Id. at 189:22-190:7).

As early as June 14, 2013, the day after Retterath agreed to and signed the MURA, Wendland reached out to Eric Oftedahl at HFSB about using the line of credit to partially fund the first \$15,000,000 installment payment to Retterath on August 1, 2013. App. VII, pp. 142-144 (Ex. 21); VI, pp. 380-381; 421-423 (Wendland Dep. 190:21-191:11; Videotaped Deposition of Eric Oftedahl ("Oftedahl Dep.") 131:2-133:7). Oftedahl responded right away with an email that the MLA would need to be amended in the same manner as Absolute's MLA was amended when Absolute repurchased Retterath's shares earlier that year. App. VII, pp. 142-144 (Ex. 21); VI, pp.

382-387; 419-421 (Wendland Dep. 191:12-196:1; Oftedahl Dep. 129:2-131:1). On June 21, Oftedahl emailed draft documents modifying the line of credit and MLA to allow HES to repurchase Retterath's Units. App. VII, pp. 157-173 (Ex. 32); VI, pp. 387-388; 424-425 (Wendland Dep. 196:11-197:5; Oftedahl Dep. 134:22-135:24). Included in these documents was the Seventh Amendment to Master Loan Agreement, section two of which stated:

"Limited Waiver. Lender [HFSB] waives any and all covenant violations or Events of Default that have occurred or could be deemed to have occurred under the Loan Agreement, (including under Sections 5.02(b), (i) or (k) of the Loan Agreement) as a result of Borrower [HES] entering into the transactions set forth in that certain Membership Unit Repurchase Agreement dated as of June 13, 2013 between Borrower and Steven J. Retterath."

App. VII, pp. 157-173 (Ex. 32 (emphasis added); VI, pp. 388-389; 425-426 (Wendland Dep. 197:6-198:8; Oftedahl Dep. 135:20-136:24).

On July 12, 2013, HFSB provided HES with a Term Sheet containing the following relevant terms:

This commitment supersedes all agreements previously made between Borrower and Lender relating to its subject matter. The lender's commitment is not subject to participant bank approvals. All banks have agreed to the credit terms in the body of the document.

\*\*\*

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